






 
 

CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT COMMISSION 

MEETING OF APRIL 15, 2024 
MINUTES 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
A regular meeting of the Lakewood Planning and Environment Commission 
(“Commission” or “PEC”) was called to order by Chairperson Baca at 7:00 p.m. in the City 
Council Chambers, 5000 Clark Avenue, Lakewood. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Commissioner Stuckey led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ROLL CALL:  Present: Chairperson Baca 

Vice Chairperson Ung 
Commissioner Stuckey 

   Excused 
   Absent: Commissioner Cole 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Abel Avalos, Director of Community Development 
   J. Patrick McGuckian, Assistant Director of Community Development 
   Paul Kuykendall, Senior Planner 
   Frankie Griffiths, Assistant Planner 
   Ivy Tsai, City Attorney 
   Sylvia Minjares, Administrative Clerk 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
There being no objections, Chairperson Baca ordered the Minutes of the Regular Meeting 
of March 7, 2024, approved as submitted. 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS AND PRESENTATIONS 
 
Abel made the following announcements: 
 

 The April 4th PEC meeting was rescheduled to today due to scheduling conflicts. 
He thanked everyone for being flexible. 

 Update on Community Development and City Hall construction. 

 Due to rain, the April 13th Annual Volunteer Day will be rescheduled.  

 Survive for 7 Emergency Preparedness presentation on April 16th. 

 Family Movie Night celebrates Lakewood’s 70th Anniversary on April 20th at Mayfair 
Park. 

 
 



April 15, 2024 PEC Minutes                                                                                     2 | P a g e  

 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 

1. CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 1020, 5018 ASHWORTH STREET, 
REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A COTTAGE 
FOOD OPERATION, (Amber Chen). 

 
Due to technical PowerPoint difficulties, presentation of Item 1 was delayed and 
presented as the second agenda item.  Chairperson Baca called for a 5-minute recess 
to allow time to resolve the issues. 
 
Assistant Planner, Frankie Griffiths, presented the staff report and exhibits which 
recommended approval of Conditional Use Permit No. 1020, for the establishment of 
a cottage food operation that will make bread, cookies, and cakes. These documents 
are on file with the Community Development Department, along with the proposed 
Conditions of Approval, which are incorporated by reference in the proposed 
Resolution of Approval.  Notice of Hearing was given pursuant to the Municipal Code 
and state law.  Staff recommends that the Commission hold a public hearing and, 
following the hearing, move to adopt the attached proposed Resolution approving 
Conditional Use Permit No. 1020 subject to the findings and conditions contained 
therein or otherwise by reference and to approve the proposed categorical exemption.  
This project is categorically exempt under the CEQA Guidelines as amended.  
Assistant Planner Griffiths asked if there are any questions of staff. 
 
Chairperson Baca asked if there are any questions of staff. 
 
No questions were asked of staff. 
 
Chairperson Baca opened the public hearing. 
 
Chairperson Baca asked of the Applicant, “Have you read, and do you agree with 
all the proposed conditions of approval?” 
 
The Applicant, Amber Chen, stated yes.  The Applicant stated that the name of her 
business is Sunkissed Bakery, because of her freckles and gave a brief history of her 
experience in the food industry. 
 
No questions from the Commission. 
 
Chairperson Baca asked if anyone else would like to speak on this item and reminded 
the public to limit comments to three (3) minutes.  There were none. 
 
There being no one else wishing to be heard on the matter, Chairperson Baca closed 
the public hearing and asked the Commission if there was any discussion or a motion. 
 
Commissioner Stuckey moved and Commissioner Ung seconded approval of staff 
recommendation to approve Conditional Use Permit No. 1020, 5018 Ashworth Street, 
and its related categorical exemption. 



April 15, 2024 PEC Minutes                                                                                     3 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 
AYES: COMMISSIONERS:  Stuckey, Ung & Baca 
NOES: COMMISSIONERS:   n/a 
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS:   Cole 
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS:   n/a 
 
Chairperson Baca announced that the Motion has passed. 
 

2. CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 1021, 4651 SILVA STREET, REQUEST 
FOR APPROVAL FOR AN INDOOR COMMERCIAL RECREATION 
FACILITY (ROLLER RINK), (Cory Joseph for Sunshine Skate Center). 

 
Due to technical difficulties with the Item 1 presentation, Item 2 was presented first. 
 
Senior Planner, Paul Kuykendall, presented the staff report and exhibits which 
recommended approval of Conditional Use Permit No. 1021, for an indoor commercial 
recreation facility (an indoor skating rink) at Lakewood Center mall.  These documents 
are on file with the Community Development Department.  The Development Review 
Board (DRB) recommended that this project be approved by the Planning and 
Environment Commission (PEC), along with the proposed Conditions of Approval 
which are incorporated by reference in the proposed Resolution of Approval.  These 
are on file with the Community Development Department.  Notice of Hearing was given 
pursuant to the Municipal Code and state law.  Staff recommends that the Commission 
hold a public hearing and, following the hearing, move to adopt the attached proposed 
Resolution approving Conditional Use Permit No. 1021 subject to the findings and 
conditions contained therein or otherwise by reference and to approve the proposed 
categorical exemption.  This project is categorically exempt under the CEQA 
Guidelines as amended.  Senior Planner Kuykendall asked if there are any questions 
of staff. 
 
Chairperson Baca asked if there are any questions of staff.  
 
Commissioner Stuckey asked a question regarding the definition for overnight events 
and the hours.   
 
Senior Planner Kuykendall noted that overnight events would require a special event 
permit, which is first approved by the mall management and then reviewed by the city’s 
licensing permit hearing board for approval.  Senior Planner Kuykendall deferred the 
question regarding the hours to the applicant. 
 
Chairperson Baca opened the public hearing. 
 
Chairperson Baca asked of the Applicant, “Have you read, and do you agree with 
all the proposed conditions of approval?” 
 
The Applicant, Cory Joseph, stated yes.  The applicant further addressed Commissioner 
Stuckey’s question by stating that overnight events are something he would like to offer 



April 15, 2024 PEC Minutes                                                                                     4 | P a g e  

 

 

 

in the future and that these events would be chaperoned. The applicant suggested that 
parents would drop off their children at around 9:00 p.m. and pick them up at around 7:00 
a.m. to 8:00 a.m.   
 
Chairperson Baca asked what the total capacity will be. 
 
The Applicant stated that he is waiting for confirmation from the Fire Department, but 
is expecting the maximum occupancy to be between 700 and 800. 
 
Chairperson Baca had a question regarding additional security.   
 
The Applicant noted that a supplemental document was added to the Conditional Use 
Permit, which addresses added security personnel, exterior surveillance cameras, and 
a no loitering policy. 
 
The Applicant shared that the skating rink’s name was chosen as a tribute to his 
parents’ professional skating team named Sunshine.  The applicant presented 
renderings of the proposed project and discussed the proposed business operations. 
 
Chairperson Baca asked if anyone else would like to speak on this item and reminded 
the public to limit comments to three (3) minutes.  There were none. 
 
There being no one else wishing to be heard on the matter, Chairperson Baca closed 
the public hearing and asked the Commission if there was any discussion or a motion. 
 
Commissioner Ung moved, and Commissioner Stuckey seconded approval of staff 
recommendation to approve Conditional Use Permit No. 1021, 4651 Silva Street, and 
its related categorical exemptions. 
 
AYES: COMMISSIONERS:    Stuckey, Ung & Baca 
NOES: COMMISSIONERS:    n/a 
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS:    Cole 
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS:    n/a 
 
Chairperson Baca announced that the Motion has passed. 

 
3. MIXED USE ORDINANCE, CITYWIDE, REQUEST FOR APPROVAL TO 

AMEND ARTICLE IX OF THE LAKEWOOD MUNICIPAL CODE 
PERTAINING TO DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR MIXED USE 
DEVELOPMENT IN THE C-1, C-3, C-4, AND M-1 ZONES. 

 
Community Development Director, Abel Avalos, introduced the item and presented 
slides relating to Lakewood’s Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA).   Director 
Avalos noted that the total number of units, including the 15% buffer, meets the state’s 
requirement to plan for these units during the 8-year Planning Period (6th cycle).  
Director Avalos clarified that the city must demonstrate that the 4,510 units noted could 
in theory be approved and ultimately constructed.  



April 15, 2024 PEC Minutes                                                                                     5 | P a g e  

 

 

 

Director Avalos stated that Lakewood’s RHNA strategy is to increase densities in Multi-
Family Residential zone by rezoning larger R-1 properties to Multi-Family Residential 
under SB 4.  Director Avalos also noted that ADUs are also credited towards RHNA 
allocation and are leading the way to unit production. 
 
Director Avalos discussed that the city’s mixed-use strategy is to allow mixed-used 
development in the C-1, C-3, C-4, and M-1 zones to plan for future housing.  Director 
Avalos further explained that the state’s deadline to rezone at least 125 acres of 
commercially zoned land within 3 years is quickly approaching.  Director Avalos 
discussed that staff has been working closely with the city’s largest landowner, 
Macerich, who had independently inquired about the possibility of incorporating some 
residential into their development.  Staff has also reached out to other developers that 
are also interested in incorporating residential into their respective developments.   
Director Avalos also noted that the city will review and amend the Zoning Ordinance 
and DRB handbooks to ensure that development standards and design guidelines are 
clear to understand and promote certainty in the planning and approval process. 
 
Senior Planner, Paul Kuykendall, presented the staff report and exhibits which 
recommend adoption of a proposed PEC resolution that recommends to the City 
Council adoption of the Mixed-Use Ordinance and approval of the related categorical 
exemption.  The ordinance proposes to amend regulations of the Lakewood Municipal 
Code pertaining to development standards for mixed use development in the C-1, C-
3, C-4, and M-1 zones.  These documents are on file with the Community Development 
Department.  Notice of Hearing was given pursuant to the Municipal Code and state 
law.  Staff recommended that the Commission hold a public hearing and then following 
the hearing, move to adopt the proposed Resolution.  Senior Planner Kuykendall 
asked if there are any questions of staff.   
 
Chairperson Baca asked if there are any questions of staff. 
 
Commissioner Stuckey asked for an example of when lesser parking would be allowed 
which would require a CUP, and whether parking would accommodate larger vehicles 
or will there only be compact parking spaces available. 
 
Senior Planner Kuykendall stated that an example where a developer would be 
allowed fewer parking spaces would be with a mixed-use development where some or 
all residential units are for disabled or senior citizens, where the number of households 
would not be typical.  Senior Planner Kuykendall answered that the parking 
requirement will mirror our existing code, which limits compact parking to 40%. 
 
Chairperson Baca asked about recommendations for EV charging stations. 
 
Paul answered that the ordinance includes a provision that follows the Green Code. 
 
Community Development Assistant Director, Patrick McGuckian, clarified that the 
Green Code ,a state law, makes requirements  for EV capable spaces and EV charging 
stations. 



April 15, 2024 PEC Minutes                                                                                     6 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 
Chairperson Baca opened the public hearing. 
 
Chairperson Baca asked if anyone else would like to speak on this item and reminded 
the public to limit comments to three (3) minutes.  There were none. 
 
Commissioner Ung moved, and Commissioner Stuckey seconded approval of staff 
recommendation to move to adopt the resolution recommending that the City 
Council approve the related Notice of Exemption and adopt the proposed Mixed-Use 
Ordinance. 
 
AYES: COMMISSIONERS:    Stuckey, Ung & Baca 
NOES: COMMISSIONERS:    n/a 
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS:    Cole 
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS:    n/a 
 
Chairperson Baca announced that the Motion has passed. 
 
REPORTS: 
 

None. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  

 
 None. 

 
STAFF COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
Director Abel Avalos stated that three to four items will be presented at the next regularly 
scheduled meeting of May 2, 2024. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: The meeting was adjourned at 8:24 p.m. 
 

The next regularly scheduled meeting will be on May 2, 2024. 
 

 
 
     _____ 
Secretary 
 

























PEC AGENDA 

May 2, 2024 

 

 

 

 

APPLICATION FOR: Conditional Use Permit No. 1022 

 

LOCATION:  3950 Hardwick Street, #206, Lakewood, California 

 

APPLICANT:  Deneb Romero, Remedial Care, LLC 

 

PROPOSED USE:  Operation of a Massage Establishment  

 

ZONING:  C-4 (General Commercial) 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The applicant, Deneb Romero representing Remedial Care, LLC, is requesting approval of 

Conditional Use Permit (CUP No. 1022) for the operation of a massage establishment at 3950 

Hardwick Street, #206 (Site).  The Site is located in the C-4 (General Commercial) zone and is 

designated by the General Plan as Commercial. 

 

The request is being made pursuant to Sections 6402.I, 9302.31c, 9340.C.5, 9347.A, and 9350.A 

of the Lakewood Municipal Code (LMC).  LMC Section 6402.I contains definitions, business 

permit requirements and operational standards for massage establishments. LMC Section 9302.31c 

defines the business of massage with reference to Section 6402.I LMC Section 9340.C.5 requires 

that a Conditional Use Permit be obtained for the operation of a massage establishment in the C-1 

(Neighborhood Commercial) zone and contains additional development standards. LMC Sections 

9347.A and 9350.A specifies that massage establishments are allowed in the C-3 (Intermediate 

Commercial) and C-4 (General Commercial) zones, respectively, under the same conditions as in 

the C-1 zone. 

 

 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 

Area Description 

 

The site is located within Lakewood Square near the southwest corner of Lakewood Boulevard 

and Hardwick Street. North of the site is Hobby Lobby and other commercial uses located in the 

C-4 (General Commercial) zone (see Vicinity Map and Aerial View). West and South of the site 

are apartment complexes located in the M-F-R (Multiple Family Residential) zone. East of the site 

is Chase bank located in the C-4 (General Commercial) zone. The following table lists the land 

uses and zoning designations for the Site and the surrounding properties. 

 



Conditional Use Permit No. 1022 

May 2, 2024 

Page 2 

 

AREA EXISTING LAND USE ZONE DESIGNATION 

Subject Site Commercial Center C-4 (General Commercial)  

North Commercial Center C-4 (General Commercial)  

East Commercial Center C-4 (General Commercial)  

South Apartment Complex M-F-R (Multiple- Family Residential) 

West Apartment Complex M-F-R (Multiple- Family Residential) 

 

Site Description 

 

The site is located in an integrated commercial center with a total land area of approximately 

72,300 square feet. The southwest portion of the integrated commercial center is developed with 

two one-story commercial buildings totaling 19,566 square feet and 180 parking spaces. The 

massage establishment is located in the Northern building, as shown in Exhibit “A.” Tenants in 

the commercial center include Michaels, Beam Nail Bar, Painting with a Twist, First Financial 

Credit Union, The Little Gym, 6 Degree Fitness, Vision Center, and a temporary space occupied 

by Kinecta Credit Union.  

 

Project Description 

 

The applicant is applying for a Conditional Use Permit for the operation of a massage 

establishment. The subject tenant space is within Phenix Salon Suites and is approximately 116 

square feet in area. Exhibit “B” shows an entryway/waiting room, thirty-two salon suites, two 

restrooms, break room, storage room, and a utility room. There is an exit door on the east side of 

the tenant space which leads to a public alley. This massage establishment will be staffed by the 

business owner, Deneb Romero, who is a Certified Massage Therapist and holds an active 

California Massage Therapy Council (CAMTC) certificate. 

 

Name CAMTC Certificate # 

Deneb Romero CMT# 28315 (Active) 

 

LMC Section 6402.I.10 permits the hours of operation to be from 7:00 AM to 10:00 PM, daily.  

The proposed business will be open from 9:30 AM to 9:00 PM, daily. Any persons practicing 

massage as a masseur, employee or otherwise, must have a valid and subsisting masseur's business 

permit pursuant to Section 6402.I of the Lakewood Municipal Code. Persons providing massages 

must also possesses a valid California Massage Therapy Council (CAMTC) certificate issued by 

the California Massage Therapy Council designating that individual as a Certified Massage 

Therapist or a Certified Massage Practitioner pursuant to Section 4600 et seq. of the Business and 

Professions Code.  In addition, Section 4608 of the Business and Professions Code requires each 

CAMTC certificate holder to display his or her original certificate wherever he or she provides 

massage for compensation. This has been included as a condition in the proposed Resolution of 

Approval. 

 

 



Conditional Use Permit No. 1022 

May 2, 2024 

Page 3 

 

 

Development Review Board 

 

Any exterior modifications will require approval from the Development Review Board (DRB). 

 

Sheriff’s Department  

 

The Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department provided comment on this application (see attached 

Sheriff’s Department letter dated April 9, 2024). The Sheriff’s Department has concerns with 

potential criminal activity with businesses of this nature and the potential negative impacts they 

may have on the community. Potential activities of concern include prostitution, unethical business 

practices, sexual exploitation, pimping, sex-trafficking, slavery, narcotics, and organized crime. 

Sheriff’s review of calls for service at this location revealed no significant incidents over the past 

five years that would otherwise cause concern related to the proposed CUP.  

 

The Sheriff’s Department recommends approval of this Conditional Use Permit provided that 

certain conditions be placed on this business in an effort to mitigate potential criminal activity.  

The Sheriff’s Department’s recommendations have been incorporated into the proposed 

Resolution of Approval and are listed below. There are no open code enforcement cases associated 

with this location. 

 

1. Ensure the massage establishment owner (certified or not) is fingerprinted for a background 

check. 

 

The applicant has successfully completed the required background check. 

 

2. Ensure there is a certified massage technician present during business hours.  The CUP shall 

become null and void if the applicant does not pass the background check within 90 days. 

 

The proposed Resolution of Approval contains a condition that there shall be a California 

Massage Therapy Council (CAMTC) designated Certified Massage Therapist (CMT) or a 

Certified Massage Practitioner (CMP) on the premises during all hours of operation. The 

applicant has successfully completed the required background check to acquire the necessary 

business license. 

 

3. Emphasize the importance of effective communication between the managers of the 

establishment regarding professional business practices. 

 

The proposed Resolution of Approval contains a condition requiring the manager of this 

massage establishment to communicate to all persons working within the business the 

importance of professional business practices and the requirements of this Conditional Use 

Permit as part of the initial orientation of those workers. 

 



Conditional Use Permit No. 1022 

May 2, 2024 

Page 4 

 

4. No alcohol allowed, including refusal of service to any intoxicated person, or person who is 

under the influence of a controlled substance, unless that controlled substance was prescribed 

by a license physician. 

 

This activity is prohibited conduct under LMC Section 6402.I.8. The proposed Resolution 

contains a condition requiring adherence to LMC Section 6402.I.8. 

 

5. Restriction of business operating hours, suggested 7:00 AM to 10:00 PM. 

 

The business will operate from 9:30 AM to 9:00 PM, daily. 

 

6. Persons who appear to be intoxicated or under the influence of a controlled substance, unless 

prescribed by a licensed physician, shall be denied service.  

 

This activity is prohibited conduct under LMC Section 6402.I.8. The proposed Resolution 

contains a condition requiring adherence to LMC Section 6402.I.8. 

 

7. Persons under the age of 18 shall be denied service. 

 

This activity is prohibited conduct under LMC Section 6402.I.8. The proposed Resolution 

contains a condition requiring adherence to LMC Section 6402.I.8. 

 

8. Persons under the age of 18 shall not be employed at the establishment. 

 

This activity is prohibited conduct under LMC Section 6402.I.8. The proposed Resolution 

contains a condition requiring adherence to LMC Section 6402.I.8. Staff inspected the site on 

April 22, 2024 and did not observe any individuals working at the location under age 18. 

 

9. Photographs/artwork of a sexual nature shall not be used as a means of advertisement for the 

business. 

 

This activity is prohibited conduct under LMC Section 6402.I.8. The proposed Resolution 

contains a condition requiring adherence to LMC Section 6402.I.8. Staff inspected the site on 

April 22, 2024 and did not observe any photographs or artwork of a sexual nature within the 

business being used as a means of advertisement for the business or otherwise. 

 

10. Photographs/literature/artwork of a sexual nature shall not be available for any patron to view 

inside the establishment. 

 

This activity is prohibited conduct under LMC Section 6402.I.8. The proposed Resolution 

contains a condition requiring adherence to LMC Section 6402.I.8. Staff inspected the site on 

April 22, 2024 and did not observe any photographs or artwork of a sexual nature within the 

business being used as a means of advertisement for the business or otherwise. 

 



Conditional Use Permit No. 1022 

May 2, 2024 

Page 5 

 

11. This CUP shall be subject to review allowing input from the Sheriff’s Department for any 

concerns that may arise. 

 

The proposed Resolution of Approval contains a condition requiring a six-month review. 

 

Code Requirements 

 

A Conditional Use Permit for the massage establishment can only be approved upon findings of 

the Planning and Environment Commission (PEC) that the use, subject to any conditions imposed, 

will not be detrimental to surrounding property or residents.  A finding that the use is in accord 

with the following principles and standards is necessary in each case, as specified in LMC Section 

9401. 

 

1.   The proposed conditional use shall not be in substantial conflict with the General Plan. 

 

The General Plan land use designation for the subject site is Commercial. The massage 

establishment is a commercial use and, therefore, is not in conflict with the General Plan. 

 

2. The nature, condition, and development of adjacent uses, buildings, and structures shall be 

considered, and no CUP shall be granted where such use will adversely affect or be materially 

detrimental to said adjacent uses, buildings, or structures. 

 

The massage establishment does not generate noise levels that would be audible outside the 

tenant space. Furthermore, this use is subject to requirements per LMC Sections 6402.I, 

9302.31c, and 9340C.5, which are intended to ensure that the business will be conducted as a 

bona fide massage establishment and will not harbor any illegal activity that would otherwise 

adversely affect or be materially detrimental to adjacent uses and buildings. 

 

3. The site for a conditional use shall be adequate in size and shape to accommodate the yards, 

walls, fences, parking and loading facilities, landscaping and other development features 

required by this Chapter, or as required as a condition in order to integrate said uses with the 

uses in the neighborhood. 

 

LMC Section 9490.1 specifies that the Director of Community Development may determine 

the parking requirements for a use whose parking requirement is not specified in the LMC. 

The precedent for a massage establishment is to require one parking space for every 250 square 

feet of gross floor area which is the same requirement used for other personal service business, 

general retail, and general office uses. The subject tenant space is 116 square feet which 

requires one (1) parking space. The total required parking for the existing uses is 185 parking 

spaces. The portion of the shopping center site developed with 180 parking spaces, which 

results in a deficiency of five (5) parking spaces. Phenix Salons has multiple tenants with 

personal use services, there will not have inadequate parking conditions as it is in compliance 

with AB2097 requirements for commercial parking. 



Conditional Use Permit No. 1022 

May 2, 2024 

Page 6 

 

 

4. The site for the conditional use shall be served by highways or streets adequate in width and 

improved as necessary to carry the kind and quantity of traffic such use would generate. 

 

The subject site is served by Lakewood Boulevard and Hardwick Street. The General Plan 

designates Hardwick Street as a collector street with a roadway width of 60’. The portion of 

Lakewood Boulevard serving the subject site is designated as a major arterial street with a 

roadway width of 100’. According to 2022 City of Lakewood Census, the number of vehicles 

driving on Hardwick Street daily between Downey and Lakewood is 4,506 vehicles. The 

number of vehicles driving on Lakewood Boulevard daily between Candlewood and Del Amo 

is 28,442. Both Hardwick Street and Lakewood Boulevard are adequate in size to 

accommodate the traffic generated by the use.  

 

5. All other conditions and limitations imposed by this Chapter in connection with the proposed 

application for a Conditional Use Permit have been met.  

 

LMC Section 6402.I.8.g prohibits massage rooms from being fitted with doors capable of 

being locked unless the business is owned by one individual with only one or no employees.   

 

The business is owned by one individual with no employees.  

 

LMC 6402.I.8.(f) – This Section states that no massage business permittee or other person shall 

employ as a masseur any person unless that employee has obtained and has in effect a 

masseur’s permit issued pursuant to this Section and lawfully possesses a valid certificate 

issued by the California Massage Therapy Council designating the person as a Certified 

Massage Therapist or a Certified Massage Practitioner pursuant to Section 4600 et al of the 

Business and Professions Code. 

 

LMC 6402.I.1.(b) - This Section states that no person shall practice massage as a masseur, 

employee or otherwise, unless he has a valid and subsisting masseur's business permit issued 

to him pursuant to the provisions of this Article and lawfully possesses a valid certificate issued 

by the California Massage Therapy Council designating him as a Certified Massage Therapist 

or a Certified Massage Practitioner pursuant to Section 4600 et al of the Business and 

Professions Code. 

 

LMC 6402.I.4.(e) – This Section states that an independent masseur or independent masseur 

contractor shall obtain a masseur’s permit, however an employee of a massage establishment 

shall not be required to obtain a masseur’s permit. 

 

CBPC 4608 – This Section requires a CAMTC certificate holder to display his or her original 

certificate wherever he or she provides massage for compensation. 

 

Staff inspected the tenant space on April 22, 2024 and found CAMTC certificates on display.  

The proposed Resolution of Approval contains a condition that an original CAMTC certificate 



Conditional Use Permit No. 1022 

May 2, 2024 

Page 7 

 

be placed on display within 30 days of approval of the Resolution of Approval. 

 

LMC 6402.I.1.(b) states that “no person shall practice massage as a masseur, employee or 

otherwise, unless he has a valid and subsisting masseur’s business permit issued to him 

pursuant to the provisions of the Article and lawfully possesses a valid certificate issued by the 

California Massage Therapy Council (CMTC) designating him as a Certified Massage 

Therapist or a Certified Massage Practitioner pursuant to Section 4600 et al of the Business 

and Professions Code.” 

 

The applicant has successfully passed the required background check. This process involves 

verifying that the applicant had not had a business permit for massage revoked by the City of 

Lakewood or any other government agency, that the applicant is at least 18 years of age, and 

that the applicant has not been convicted of various offenses, including, but not limited to, 

prostitution. 

 

LMC 9402.I.8 states forms of prohibited conduct, including distribution of material that “states 

or depicts any portion of the human body that would reasonably suggest to prospective patrons 

that any service is available pursuant to said permit or business license, other than a massage.”  

Persons under the age of 18 are prohibited to give or receive massages. Alcoholic beverages 

may not be kept, sold, given or consumed on site, nor may any intoxicated person remain on 

site.  Any and all persons performing massage shall be CMTC certified. The premises shall be 

supervised by an adult manager with CMTC certification at all times when open for business.  

Hours of operation shall not be earlier than 7:00 AM and no later than 10:00 PM unless 

otherwise authorized by the City. 

 

The proposed Resolution of Approval contains a condition that the applicant shall comply with 

all applicable laws, including those mentioned above.  LMC Section 6402.I.10 limits the hours 

of operation for massage establishments to 7:00 AM to 10:00 PM. The applicant is not 

proposing to deviate from of these requirements. 

 

LMC Section 6402.I.8.(b) requires the owner and/or manager to report to the Los Angeles 

County Sheriff’s Department any and all changes or transfers of masseurs employed in the 

business whether by new or renewed employment, discharge or termination, or otherwise. The 

proposed Resolution of Approval contains a condition requiring the owner to notify the City 

and the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department of any changes or transfers of masseurs 

employed at this location. 
 

LMC 6402.I.8.(g)(1-4) specifies the physical development standards for massage 

establishments, including that one artificial white light of at least 40 watts be provided in each 

massage room.  Cleaning must be performed each business day for dry heat rooms, steam or 

vapor rooms, cabinets, shower compartments and toilet rooms.  Bathtubs shall be cleaned after 

each use. The tenant space complies with the required lighting and the applicant performs the 

required cleaning. There are no bathtubs on the premises. 

 





Conditional Use Permit No. 1022 

May 2, 2024 

Page 9 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

 

1) Letter from the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department dated April 9, 2024 

2) Vicinity Map 

3) Aerial View 

4) Exhibit “A” – Site Plan 

5) Exhibit “B” – Floor Plan 

6) Proposed Resolution of Approval 

 

 







4002-4074

39
50

-40
00

5041

HARDWICK STREET

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 1022
3950 HARDWICK STREET, #206

MASSAGE ESTABLISHMENT

SUBJECT SITE
C-4 (GENERAL COMMERCIAL)
M-F-R (MULTIPLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL)

VICINITY MAP

±

SUBJECT TENANT SPACE

SUBJECT SITE

ALLEY
AL

LE
Y

HA
YT

ER
  A

VE
NU

E

HARDWICK STREET



CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 1022
3950 HARDWICK  STREET, #206

MASSAGE ESTABLISHMENT

AERIAL VIEW

ALLEY

AL
LE

Y

HARDWICK  STREET

AL
LE

Y

±

SUBJECT TENANT SPACE



EXHIBIT “A”

4142 Paramount Blvd.

3950 Hardwick Street, #206

NORTH

NTS



EXHIBIT “B”

NORTH

NTS



 

   

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. -2024 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT 

COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD APPROVING AN 

APPLICATION FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 1022, AT 3950 

HARDWICK STREET, #206, LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA, FOR THE 

OPERATION OF A MASSAGE ESTABLISHMENT AND THE 

CATEGORICAL EXEMPTION. 

 

THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES 

HEREBY FIND, RESOLVE AND DETERMINE AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood, having 

had submitted to it the application of Deneb Romero representing Remedial Care, LLC, lessee of the 

owners of an interest in the following described real property, requesting a Conditional Use Permit 

(CUP), pursuant to the provisions under Sections 6402.I, 9302.31c, 9340.C.5, 9347.A, and 9350.A of 

the Lakewood Municipal Code for the operation of a massage establishment on that certain real 

property within the City of Lakewood described as a portion of Lot 16 of Tract No. 8084, in the State 

of California, as per Map Book 419, Pages 6-14, as recorded in the Office of the County Recorder of 

Los Angeles County, and more particularly described as and more particularly described as 3950 

Hardwick Street, #206, Lakewood, California; all as shown in the attached minutes and report of the 

Planning and Environment Commission, attached hereto and made a part hereof as though set forth 

in full, the Planning and Environment Commission does hereby find and determine as provided in 

this Resolution. 

 

SECTION 2. The Planning and Environment Commission finds that the that the proposed 

project is Categorically Exempt pursuant to Section 15301.(a), of the California Environmental 

Quality Act Guidelines, as amended. 

 

SECTION 3. The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood reports 

that a public hearing was held before the Planning and Environment Commission in respect to the 

application on the 2nd day of May 2024, and the Planning and Environment Commission does hereby 

find and determine that the application, subject to the conditions hereinafter specified, shall be granted 

for the following reasons: 

 

A. The request is for approval of a Conditional Use Permit for the operation of a massage 

establishment located at 3950 Hardwick Street, #206, Lakewood, all as shown on Exhibits “A” and 

“B.” 

 

B. The proposed use is found to be in conformity with the goals of the General Plan, and with 

the Commercial land use designation. 



Resolution No. -2024                                  - 2 -                                                            CUP 1022 

 

 

C. The nature, condition, and development of adjacent uses, buildings, and structures have 

been considered, and it has been found that the proposed massage establishment will not adversely 

affect or be materially detrimental to adjacent uses, buildings, or structures, provided the conditions 

herein contained are implemented and complied with in total. 

 

D. Lakewood Boulevard and Hardwick Street are adequate in width and improved as 

necessary to serve the traffic generated by the site.  No adverse effect is anticipated on existing roads 

and circulation as a consequence of this application. 

 

E. The subject site is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the yards, walls, fences, 

loading facilities, landscaping, and other development features required by the Code.  The site 

provides adequate off-street parking capacity to accommodate the parking requirements of the subject 

use in addition to existing businesses at the site.  

 

F. Notification of the public hearing for this Conditional Use Permit was published on the 

City of Lakewood’s web page, was posted and mailed to property owners within a 300-foot radius, 

pursuant to Section 9422, et seq., of the Lakewood Municipal Code and State Law. 

 

SECTION 4. The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood, based 

upon the aforementioned findings and determinations, hereby grants the use as requested in 

Conditional Use Permit No. 1022 provided, however, the following conditions are observed and 

complied with at all times: 

 

A. Compliance with these conditions shall commence upon the initial opening of this 

business or as specified herein and not thereafter violated or deviated from except where authorized 

by amendment to this Resolution adopted in accordance with the provisions of this Resolution and 

the Municipal Code.  The granting of this Conditional Use Permit and this Resolution, and any 

modification or change thereof, shall not be effective for any purpose until a certified copy of this 

Resolution (exhibits excluded) has been recorded in the office of the Los Angeles County Recorder.  

The granting of this Conditional Use Permit, subject to the conditions herein set forth, are binding on 

the heirs, assigns, and successors in interest of the applicant and their heirs, assigns and successors in 

interest. 

 

B. The applicant shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, including, but not limited 

to, Lakewood Municipal Code Sections 6402.I, 9302.31.C, 6402.I.8, 9340.C.5, 9347.A, and 9350.A. 

Material violation of any of those laws in connection with the use will be cause for modification or 

revocation of this permit. 

 

C. Approval for the operation of a massage establishment located at 3950 Hardwick Street, 

#206, shall be based on Exhibits “A” and “B.” 

 

D. This CUP shall be subject to a six-month review from the date of the initial opening of the 



Resolution No. -2024                                  - 3 -                                                            CUP 1022 

 

business to ensure that the use is complying with the requirements contained in this Resolution and 

to allow input from the Director of Public Safety and/or the Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department 

for any concerns that may arise. 

 

E.   No person shall practice massage as a masseur, employee or otherwise, unless he has a 

valid and subsisting masseur's business permit issued to him pursuant to Section 6402.I of the 

Lakewood Municipal Code and lawfully possesses a valid certificate issued by the California 

Massage Therapy Council designating him as a Certified Massage Therapist or a Certified Massage 

Practitioner pursuant to Section 4600 et al of the Business and Professions Code.  Material violation 

of this condition will be cause for modification or revocation of this conditional use permit. 

 

F. The owners of the massage establishment shall be fingerprinted and pass a background 

check.  A second background check is not required of an owner of a massage establishment who 

previously passed a background check with the City of Lakewood to obtain a business license for that 

massage establishment, unless the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department expresses in written 

correspondence to the City of Lakewood that there is just cause to require a new background check.  

This Conditional Use Permit shall become null and void if the owner of the massage establishment does 

not pass the background check within 90 calendar days from the date the background check application 

is submitted. 

 

G. A California Massage Therapy Council (CAMTC) designated Certified Massage 

Therapist (CMT) or a Certified Massage Practitioner (CMP) shall be on the premises during all hours 

of operation. 

 

H. The owners and/or managers of this massage establishment shall communicate to all 

persons working within the business the importance of professional business practices and the 

requirements of this Conditional Use Permit as part of the initial orientation of those workers. 

 

I. No alcoholic beverages are allowed on the premises and no person who appears to be 

intoxicated or under the influence of a controlled substance, unless prescribed by a licensed physician, 

shall be granted service in the massage establishment. 

 

J. The hours of operation shall be no earlier than 7:00 a.m. and no later than 10:00 p.m., 

daily. 

 

K. No massage business permittee or other person shall permit any person under the age of 

eighteen (18) years to come or remain on the premises of this massage business establishment as a 

masseur, employee or patron unless such person is on the premises for other lawful business.  In the 

instance where the client seeking treatment is under the age of eighteen (18) years, they shall be 

allowed on the premises only when accompanied by their parent or legal guardian, who shall remain 

on the premises and within sight of the underage client. 

 

L. Photographs, literature or artwork of a sexual nature shall not be used as a means of 



Resolution No. -2024                                  - 4 -                                                            CUP 1022 

 

advertisement for the business, including on the internet, nor shall such materials be made available 

for any patron to view inside the establishment. 

 

M. Managers of this massage establishment shall maintain an ongoing liaison relationship 

with the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department and the Planning Section of the Lakewood 

Community Development Department to facilitate communication and prevent crime.  Managers of 

this massage establishment shall ensure that their current contact information, including contact name, 

phone number, and mailing address is on file with both agencies at all times and shall respond in a 

timely manner to requests for information from either agency. 

 

N. The owner shall immediately report any changes or transfers of masseurs employed at this 

location, including current employees, to the City and the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department.  

This includes when employees begin work at the business and when they terminate employment at 

the business. 

 

O. All masseurs shall display their current, original CAMTC certificate within the 

entry/reception area upon initial opening of this business.  All subsequent new masseurs shall display 

their current, original CAMTC certificate within the entry/reception area upon the first day of work 

at this location. 

 

P. The applicant shall sign a written statement stating that he/she has read, understands, and 

agrees to the conditions of the granting of this Conditional Use Permit within twenty (20) days of the 

adoption of the Resolution approving the same, or this approval shall become null and void.   

 

Q. Effective Date. The action by the Planning and Environment Commission in this matter 

shall be final, conclusive, and effective ten (10) calendar days after the giving of official notice of 

approval, as provided in Section 9403.2 of the Lakewood Municipal Code (LMC), unless within that 

ten (10) calendar day period an appeal in writing is filed with the City Clerk by the applicant or by 

any person who protested the application as a matter of record, and who, in addition, received or was 

entitled to receive the written notice specified in LMC Section 9422. The filing of such an appeal 

within such time limit or the request for review of such a decision within such time limit shall stay 

the effective date of the order granted until the City Council has acted on the appeal or other approval 

review. 

 

R. Acceptance. By signing a statement and/or orally accepting the terms and provisions of 

this conditional use permit during the public hearing and as further recorded as entered into the 

minutes of these proceedings, the permittee thereby acknowledges all of the conditions imposed and 

accepts this permit subject to those conditions with a full awareness that the violation of any of the 

conditions could subject permittee to further hearings before the Planning and Environment 

Commission on the issue of possible modification and/or revocation.  Furthermore, the applicant shall 

sign a written statement stating that they have read, understand, and agree to the conditions of 

approval within ten (10) City business days following official notice of the adoption of this Resolution 

of Approval for Conditional Use Permit Number 1022. 



Resolution No. -2024                                  - 5 -                                                            CUP 1022 

 

 

S. Modification/Revocation. This Conditional Use Permit may be modified or revoked by 

the City Council or the Planning and Environment Commission at a public hearing, should they 

determine that the proposed uses or conditions under which it is being operated or maintained is 

detrimental to the public health, welfare and/or materially injurious to property or improvements in 

the vicinity of the subject property and/or if the property is operated or maintained so as to constitute 

a public nuisance. 

 

T. Indemnification. The applicant agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City, 

its officers, agents, and employees at the applicant’s expense from any and all liability or claims that 

may be brought against the City arising from its approval of this permit, and/or arising out of the 

operation of any business, land use or activity on the subject property, save and except where such 

are caused by the City’s active negligence. 

 

U. Compliance. The applicant shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws. Material 

violation of any of those laws in connection with the construction and/or operation of any activity or 

land use on the subject property may be cause to justify modifications or revocation of this conditional 

use permit by the Lakewood Planning and Environment Commission or City Council at a public 

hearing. 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 2nd day of May 2024, by the Planning and Environment 

Commission of the City of Lakewood voting as follows: 

 

AYES:   COMMISSIONERS:  

NOES:   COMMISSIONERS: 

ABSENT:  COMMISSIONERS:  

ABSTAIN:  COMMISSIONERS: 

 

 

             _____________________________   

             Chairperson 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Abel Avalos, Secretary 

 

 





PEC AGENDA 
May 2, 2024 

 
APPLICATION FOR: Conditional Use Permit No. 1023 
 
LOCATION: 4142 Paramount Boulevard 
 
APPLICANT: Emil Takla 
 
PROPOSED USE: Tobacco and Nicotine Product Sales 
 
ZONING: C-4 (General Commercial) 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The applicant, Emil Takla is requesting approval of Conditional Use Permit (CUP) No. 1023 for 
the establishment of a Tobacco and Nicotine Product Sales facility.  The site is located at 4142 
Paramount Boulevard and is in the C-4 (General Commercial) zone.  The request is being made 
pursuant to Lakewood Municipal Code (LMC) Section 9350.B.12, which allows for the 
establishment of Tobacco and Nicotine Product Sales, provided that a CUP has been obtained 
and remains in full force and effect. 
 
 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

Area Description 
The proposed use will occupy a tenant space within a commercial center (see Vicinity Map and 
Aerial View).  The closest residential property is 30 feet north of the site, across a 30-foot-wide 
public alley.  The following table lists the land uses and zoning designations for the site and the 
surrounding properties.   

AREA EXISTING LAND USE ZONE DESIGNATION 

Subject Site Commercial Center C-4 (General Commercial) 

North Single-Family Residential R-1 (Single-Family Residential) 

East Single-Family Residential R-1 (Single-Family Residential) 

South Dental Office, Drive-Thru Restaurants, Carwash C-4 (General Commercial) 

West Commercial Center, Apartments C-4 (General Commercial) 
M-F-R (Multi-Family Residential) 

 

Site Description. 
The General Plan designates the site for Commercial uses, and the site is within the C-4 zone. 
The 1,120 square-foot tenant space is located at 4142 Paramount Boulevard within a one-story 
commercial building on the east side of Paramount Boulevard, just north of Carson Street.  The 
commercial building contains seven tenants including a liquor store, a barber shop, the tenant 
space, a party rental store, a nail salon, a sandwich shop, and O’Connor’s Irish Pub.  There is a 
small parking area with 27 parking spaces on the west side of the building, and there is a larger 



Conditional Use Permit No. 1023 
May 2, 2024 
Page 2 
 
111-space parking lot at the rear of the building.  There are 138 parking spaces on the site.  A 
public alley provides access to both parking lots and to the single-family residential areas to the 
north and east (see Exhibit “A”). 
 
The tenant space includes a customer area with display cases, a 180 square-foot office/storage 
room, and a restroom.  A rear door provides access to the rear parking lot (see Exhibit “B”).  The 
proposed hours of operation are from 8:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M., daily.  Initially, the applicant will 
operate the business and will later hire another employee.  Employees must be at least 18 years 
of age.  The store will sell cigarettes, cigars, loose tobacco, pipes, lighters, vaping supplies, and 
other tobacco related merchandise.  Marijuana will not be sold from this business.  The proposed 
Resolution of Approval contains a condition prohibiting the sale of marijuana. 
 
Code Requirements 
LMC Section 9401, et seq., establishes the basis for approval or denial of a conditional use 
permit.  LMC Section 9401.A. sets forth the principles and standards that each case must comply 
with to be granted a conditional use permit.  A review of the subject application, considering 
Subsection A, reveals the following: 
 
1. The proposed conditional use shall not be in substantial conflict with the General Plan. 
 

The General Plan designates the area as Commercial.  The proposed business is commercial 
in nature, and therefore, is in conformity with the General Plan designation of the site.  

 
2. The nature, condition, and development of adjacent uses, buildings, and structures shall be 

considered, and no Conditional Use Permit shall be permitted where such will adversely 
affect or be materially detrimental to said adjacent uses, buildings, or structures. 

 
The closest residential property to the proposed use is a single-family residence 
approximately 70 feet to the north and an apartment development approximately 140 feet 
across Paramount Boulevard to the west.  The proposed hours of operation will be from 8:00 
A.M. to 6:00 P.M., daily. The proposed Resolution of Approval does not restrict the hours of 
operation. 

 
3. The site for a Conditional Use Permit shall be adequate in size and shape to accommodate 

the yards, walls, fences, parking and loading facilities, landscaping and other development 
features required by this chapter, or as required as a condition in order to integrate such 
uses with the uses in the neighborhood. 
 
The proposed use is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the proposed use with all 
required yards, walls, fences, and loading facilities.  There are sufficient parking spaces to 
accommodate the proposed conditional use. 

4. The site for the conditional use is served by highways or streets adequate in width and 
improved as necessary to carry the kind and quantity of traffic such use would generate. 



Conditional Use Permit No. 1023 
May 2, 2024 
Page 3 
 

The site is served by Paramount Boulevard and a public alley.  The General Plan Circulation 
Element classifies Paramount Boulevard as a major arterial roadway.  The Lakewood 2022 
Traffic Census shows that the segment of Paramount Boulevard between Del Amo Boulevard 
and Carson Street had an average daily traffic (ADT) count of 24,842 vehicles.  The previous 
use was a barber shop with the same parking requirement, and no significant change in traffic 
is anticipated as a result of this application.  Paramount Boulevard and the public alley are 
adequate in width and improved as necessary to accommodate the traffic generated by the 
proposed conditional use amendment. 

 
5. That all other conditions and limitations imposed by this chapter in connection with the 

proposed application for a Conditional Use Permit have been made. 
 
Section 9350.B.12.(a) specifies that no CUP shall be issued for a tobacco and nicotine 
product sales facility within one thousand (1,000) feet of the property boundary of any 
church, public or private school, or college, library, public playground or park, building and 
facilities owned and maintained by any public entity for the public use, or any 
noncommercial establishment operated by a bona fide religious organization, or any 
establishment likely to be used primarily by minors.  The proposed use is more than 1,000 
feet away from any sensitive land use listed in Section 9350.B.12.(a). 

 
Development Review Board 
The Development Review Board (DRB) reviewed the CUP application for this business on April 
22, 2024 (see attached letter for DRB Case No. 9244). The DRB letter included conditions for 
compliance with conditions of operation, parking and circulation, waste collection, site security, 
and property maintenance.  The proposed Resolution of Approval requires that the property 
owner and/or the property management company shall prepare, submit, and obtain approval of a 
Public Safety and Security Plan (PSSP) with the Lakewood Public Safety Department prior to 
final inspection. The DRB conditions contained in the action letter for DRB Case No. 9244 are 
incorporated by reference in the proposed Resolution of Approval. 
 
Code Enforcement Service Requests 
There are no open service requests or code enforcement cases for this location. 
 
Law Enforcement 
The Director of Public Safety and the Sheriff’s Department reviewed the proposed conditional 
use and recommends approval subject to recommendations which have been incorporated into 
the proposed Resolution of Approval as conditions of approval (see attached correspondence 
dated April 18, 2024).  The Sheriff’s Department recommended conditions are: 

1) Ensure that individuals do not loiter in the establishment. 
2) Ensure tobacco and nicotine products are not sold to minors by requesting proper 

identification. 
3) If any criminal activity is observed by staff, notify law enforcement. 
4) Ensure state of the art surveillance equipment is installed both interior and exterior of the 

business. 



























Conditional Use Permit No. 1023
4142 Paramount Boulevard
Tobacco and Nicotine Sales

4115

275
7

4112-16
4118-22

4117-21

4105

4141
4130-34
4124-28

4123-27
4129-33
4135-39 26

16
26

08

26
34

4130-46
27

00
-16

27
29

31
20

4119
4125

27
07

26
11

27
27

26
60

-26
68

31
98

26
15

26
01

27
35

26
00

4211

4163

4175
4169

4157
4149
4143

4131
4137

4203

4217

4160

4246

4118
41124113

27
53

4203

4106 4102

28
34

27
02

42034202 4202

27
03

27
07

4241 28
35

41
55

27
47

4103

4223

28
23

28
17

28
29

4229

4207
4213

4235

4219

4156

27
12

28
02

27
19

28
07

27
34

27
09

28
13

27
13

28
22

27
25

27
29

27
35

28
03

27
184229

28
28

28
08

27
28

4207

28
18

4213
4219
4225 28

12

4235
4239

27
22

4116
4110

4117
4113
4119

4169

27
08

27
42

27
02

4228
4222

4129

4165

4137
4133

4158

4143

4154

4106

4144
4138

4206
4212
4216

4148

4234

4149

4238

4123

4153

4122
4128
4134

4159

4109

27
08

4162

4107
27

43
4101

4149

4228
4184

4146

4202

41424143

4168

4133
27

17

27
38

27
32

27
28

27
12

27
22

27
18

4152

4120

4139

4208

27
13

4222

27
27

4172

27
37

27
21

4212 27
334218

4178

41264127

4232
4236

4136
4130

4123

NE
LS

ON
BA

RK

MA
YB

AN
K  

AV
E

GREENMEADOW  ROAD

VILLAGE  ROAD

BR
OC

K  
AV

EN
UE

OB
ISP

O 
 A

VE
NU

E

CARSON STREET

GREENMEADOW  RD
PA

RA
MO

UN
T  

BO
UL

EV
AR

D

All
ey

Alley

SUBJECTSUBJECT
SITESITE

SUBJECT SITE
M-F-R (Multi-Family Residential)

VICINITY MAP

R-1 (Single-Family Residential)

±

M-1 (Light Manufacturing)
C-4 (General Commercial)



CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 1023
4142 PARAMOUNT BOULEVARD

TOBACCO AND NICOTINE SALES

AERIAL VIEW

Greenmeadow Road

0 75 15037.5 Feet ±

Pa
ram

ou
nt 

Bo
ule

va
rd Alley

Al
ley

SITE

4142 Paramount Blvd.



EXHIBIT “A”

4142 Paramount Blvd.



EXHIBIT “B”

NORTH

NTS

Entrance

Office/
Storage

Rest-
room

70’

1
6
’



 

 

                                                      
 

RESOLUTION NO.  -2024 
 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD APPROVING 
APPLICATION FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 1023 
LOCATED AT 4142 PARAMOUNT BOULEVARD, LAKEWOOD, 
CALIFORNIA, FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A TOBACCO 
AND NICOTINE PRODUCT SALES FACILITY AND THE 
CATEGORICAL EXEMPTION. 

 
THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
DOES HEREBY FIND, RESOLVE AND DETERMINE AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1.   The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood, 

having had submitted to it the application of Emil Takla, lessee of the owners of an interest in the 
following described real property, requesting a Conditional Use Permit pursuant to the 
provisions under Sections 9302.17c, 9347.D.5 and 9350.B.2 of the Lakewood Municipal Code 
for the establishment of a tobacco and nicotine product sales facility, on that certain real property 
within the City of Lakewood described as Tract No. 17230, North 150 feet measured on West 
line of a portion of Lot 285, Assessor’s Parcel No. 7151-024-021, and more particularly 
described as 4142 Paramount Boulevard, Lakewood, California, all as shown in the attached 
minutes and report of the Planning and Environment Commission, attached hereto and made a 
part hereof as though set forth in full, the Planning and Environment Commission does hereby 
find and determine as provided in this Resolution. 
 

SECTION 2.   The Planning and Environment Commission does hereby find that the 
proposed project is Categorically Exempt pursuant to Section 15301.(a), of the California 
Environmental Quality Act Guidelines, as amended. 
 

SECTION 3.   The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood does 
hereby report that a public hearing was held before the Planning and Environment Commission 
in respect to said application on the 2nd day of May 2024, and the Planning and Environment 
Commission does hereby find and determine that the application, subject to the conditions 
hereinafter specified, should be granted for the following reasons: 
 

A. The request is for approval of a Conditional Use Permit for the establishment of a 
tobacco and nicotine product sales facility located at 4142 Paramount Boulevard, Lakewood, all 
as shown on Exhibits “A” and “B.” 
 

B. The proposed use is found to be in conformity with the goals of the General Plan and 
the General Plan’s Commercial land use designation of the site. 
 

C. The nature, condition, and development of the adjacent uses, buildings, and structures 
have been considered, and it has been found that the proposed use will not adversely affect or be 



Resolution No. -2024   CUP 1023 
   

2 
 

materially detrimental to adjacent uses, buildings, or structures, provided the conditions herein 
contained are implemented and complied with in total. 
 

D. Paramount Boulevard and the adjacent public alley are adequate in width and 
improved as necessary to serve the traffic generated by the proposed use.  No adverse effect is 
anticipated on existing roads and circulation as a consequence of this application. 

 
E. The subject site is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the yards, walls, 

fences, loading facilities, landscaping, and other development features required by the Code.  
The site provides a sufficient number of parking spaces as shown on Exhibit “A,” which can 
accommodate the parking requirements of the proposed use in addition to existing businesses at 
the site. 
 

F. Notification of the public hearing for this Conditional Use Permit was published on 
the City of Lakewood’s web page and was posted and mailed to property owners within a 300-
foot radius pursuant to Section 9422, et seq., of the Lakewood Municipal Code and State Law. 
 
 SECTION 4.   The Planning and Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood, 
based upon the aforementioned findings and determinations, hereby grants the use as requested 
in Conditional Use Permit No. 1023 provided the following conditions are observed and 
complied with at all times: 
 

A. The conditions shall be complied with upon the initial opening of this business as 
described herein and not thereafter violated or deviated from except where authorized by 
amendment to this Resolution adopted in accordance with the provisions of this Resolution and 
the Municipal Code.  The granting of this Conditional Use Permit and this Resolution, and any 
modification or change thereof, shall not be effective for any purpose until a certified copy of 
this Resolution (exhibits excluded) has been recorded in the office of the Los Angeles County 
Recorder.  The granting of this Conditional Use Permit, subject to the conditions herein set forth, 
are binding on the heirs, assigns, and successors in interest of the applicant and their heirs, 
assigns and successors in interest. 
 

B. Approval for the proposed use, located 4142 Paramount Boulevard, shall be based on 
Exhibits “A” and “B.” 

 
C. The proper permits shall be obtained from the Building and Safety Section for all 

interior and exterior work, prior to the commencement of such work.  In addition, Development 
Review Board approval shall be obtained for all exterior improvements prior to obtaining proper 
permits and commencement of work, as applicable. 

 
D. The business operator and/or all employees shall ensure that individuals do not loiter 

in the establishment. 
 
E. No tobacco, nicotine products, tobacco paraphernalia, including electronic cigarettes, 

shall be sold to any person under the age of 21.  The business operator and/or all employees shall 
request proper identification from customers to verify the age of persons purchasing tobacco 
and/or nicotine products. 



Resolution No. -2024   CUP 1023 
   

3 
 

F. All employees shall be at least 21 years of age and be on the premises during all 
hours of operation.  All employees shall actively supervise the tenant space at all times to ensure 
there is no access to any tobacco, nicotine products, tobacco paraphernalia, and/or electronic 
cigarettes by any person below the age of 21. 

 
G. The business operator shall instruct employees to notify law enforcement should they 

observe any criminal activity. 
 
H. The property owner, representative, or tenant shall prepare, submit, and obtain 

approval of a Public Safety and Security Plan (PSSP) to the satisfaction of the Lakewood Public 
Safety Department (PSD), prior to final inspection/occupancy. The PSD shall review the PSSP in 
coordination with the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department (Sheriff’s Department). 
Tenant/property management shall establish an on-going liaison relationship with members of 
the Sheriff’s Department and the Lakewood PSD staff, so that communication can be timely and 
effective when problems occur. All security protocols for the property shall be provided to the 
PSD and the Sheriff’s Department. 

 
I. The use shall comply with the Development Review Board’s recommended 

conditions of approval per DRB letter dated April 23, 2024, prior to the initial opening of the use 
(DRB Case No. 9244). 

 
J. The use shall be subject to a six-month review from the initial date of opening of the 

business. 
 
K. Effective Date. The action by the Planning and Environment Commission in this 

matter shall be final, conclusive, and effective ten (10) calendar days after the giving of official 
notice of approval, as provided in Section 9403.2 of the Lakewood Municipal Code (LMC), 
unless within that ten (10) calendar day period an appeal in writing is filed with the City Clerk by 
the applicant or by any person who protested the application as a matter of record, and who, in 
addition, received or was entitled to receive the written notice specified in LMC Section 9422.  
The filing of such an appeal within such time limit or the request for review of such a decision 
within such time limit shall stay the effective date of the order granted until the City Council has 
acted on the appeal or other approval review. 

 
L. Acceptance. By signing a statement and/or orally accepting the terms and 

provisions of this conditional use permit during the public hearing and as further recorded as 
entered into the minutes of these proceedings, the permittee thereby acknowledges all of the 
conditions imposed and accepts this permit subject to those conditions with a full awareness that 
the violation of any of the conditions could subject permittee to further hearings before the 
Planning and Environment Commission on the issue of possible modification and/or revocation.  
Furthermore, the applicant shall sign a written statement stating that they have read, understand, 
and agree to the conditions of approval within ten (10) City business days following official 
notice of the adoption of this Resolution of Approval for Conditional Use Permit Number 1023. 
 

M. Modification/Revocation. This Conditional Use Permit may be modified or 
revoked by the City Council or the Planning and Environment Commission at a public hearing, 
should they determine that the proposed uses or conditions under which it is being operated or 



Resolution No. -2024   CUP 1023 
   

4 
 

maintained is detrimental to the public health, welfare and/or materially injurious to property or 
improvements in the vicinity of the subject property and/or if the property is operated or 
maintained so as to constitute a public nuisance. 
 

N. Indemnification. The applicant agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the 
City, its officers, agents and employees at the applicant’s expense, from any and all liability or 
claims that may be brought against the City arising from its approval of this permit, and/or 
arising out of the operation of any business, land use or activity on the subject property, save and 
except where such are caused by the City’s active negligence. 
 

O. Compliance. The applicant shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws. 
Material violation of any of those laws in connection with the construction and/or operation of 
any activity or land use on the subject property may be cause to justify modifications or 
revocation of this conditional use permit by the Lakewood Planning and Environment 
Commission or City Council at a public hearing. 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED this 2nd day of May 2024, by the Planning and 

Environment Commission of the City of Lakewood voting as follows: 
 
AYES:   COMMISSIONERS:  
NOES:   COMMISSIONERS:  
ABSENT:  COMMISSIONERS:   
ABSTAIN:  COMMISSIONERS: 
  
 
 
 _____________________________ 
 Chairperson 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Abel Avalos, Secretary 
 










































	CUP 1022, PEC Packet.pdf
	CUP 1022, Exhibits.pdf
	1: Site Plan
	2: Floor Plan


	CUP 1023, PEC Packet.pdf
	1: Site Plan
	2: Floor Plan


